
[image: image]


[image: image]


ALSO BY MAX WALLACE

The American Axis

Muhammad Ali’s Greatest Fight

Love & Death


[image: image]


Copyright © 2018 by Max Wallace

First published 2017 by Allen Lane, an imprint of Penguin Canada, a division of Penguin Random House Canada Limited

All rights reserved. No part of this book may be reproduced in any manner without the express written consent of the publisher, except in the case of brief excerpts in critical reviews or articles. All inquiries should be addressed to Skyhorse Publishing, 307 West 36th Street, 11th Floor, New York, NY 10018.

Skyhorse Publishing books may be purchased in bulk at special discounts for sales promotion, corporate gifts, fund-raising, or educational purposes. Special editions can also be created to specifications. For details, contact the Special Sales Department, Skyhorse Publishing, 307 West 36th Street, 11th Floor, New York, NY 10018 or info@skyhorsepublishing.com.

Skyhorse® and Skyhorse Publishing® are registered trademarks of Skyhorse Publishing, Inc.®, a Delaware corporation.

Visit our website at www.skyhorsepublishing.com.

10 9 8 7 6 5 4 3 2 1

Library of Congress Cataloging-in-Publication Data is available on file.

Cover design by Rain Saukas

Cover photo credit AP

ISBN: 978-1-5107-3497-5

Ebook ISBN: 978-1-5107-3499-9

Printed in the United States of America


To my late mother, Phyllis Bailey, who taught me to never forget
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AUTHOR’S NOTE

When Schindler’s List was released in 1993, Steven Spielberg’s epic film served as a powerful antidote to decades of stories focusing only on the darkest elements of the Holocaust. Oskar Schindler, the German industrialist who saved more than a thousand Jews, served as an inspirational figure who came to epitomize the little-known area of Holocaust rescue and reminded the world that not all Germans had acquiesced in their country’s crimes.

Five years later, I was working in Montreal as an interviewer for the Shoah Visual History Foundation—the institute Spielberg established with the proceeds of the film to document the video testimonies of Holocaust survivors and to ensure the world would never forget. Each week, I encountered men and women—Jews and non-Jews—who had endured and somehow survived the nightmare. Many of the stories I documented continue to haunt me to this day, each marked with common themes of death and despair, hardly redeemed by the fact that the subjects happened to survive while most of their loved ones ended up in Hitler’s ovens.

After spending two years recording many such grim testimonies, however, I learned of a man living in another Canadian city who had a very different story to tell. In the summer of 2000, I traveled to Toronto to meet Hermann Landau—the last living eyewitness to an incredible chapter of history. As the secretary of a Swiss-based rescue organization, Landau had spent more than three years documenting the activities of an extraordinary band of Orthodox Jews who spent every waking moment on a mission that may have dwarfed the significant accomplishments of Schindler and others more familiar to history.

As he shared his remarkable story and generously opened his meticulous archives, I was astonished that the staggering achievements of this group were so little known. It led me to follow an historical trail that, more than fifteen years later, may very well rewrite the history of the Holocaust.


ONE

THE LIFEBOAT IS FULL

Early in the morning of November 25, 1944, prisoners at Auschwitz-Birkenau heard a deafening explosion. Emerging from their barracks, they witnessed the gas chambers and crematoria—part of the largest killing machine in human history—reduced to rubble. Most assumed they had fallen victim to inmate sabotage and thousands silently cheered. However, the Final Solution’s most efficient murder apparatus had not been felled by Jews, but rather by the ruthless architect of mass genocide, SS chief Heinrich Himmler.

On his first morning in Germany—April 20, 1945—Norbert Masur woke up in a cold sweat. From all corners of the Fatherland, leading Nazis were already converging on Berlin for a celebration of Adolf Hitler’s fifty-sixth birthday, set to take place that evening in the Führerbunker where Hitler had retreated while his Thousand Year Reich crumbled around him. Among the invited guests, in fact, was the man whom Masur had secretly flown to meet.

As he anxiously waited for the meeting to take place, Masur couldn’t help but wonder why he had agreed to make the trip, which had been undertaken the night before in the strictest of secrecy. It was a journey fraught with danger and not just from the nearly constant strafing of Allied aircraft while he was driven from Berlin’s Tempelhof Airport to the lavish estate of the host who had arranged the historic meeting.

Norbert Masur had traveled from Sweden as a representative of the World Jewish Congress to meet the man who had almost singlehandedly been responsible for the decimation of his people. If the Führer, holed up in his bunker, were to discover that a member of the hated race was waiting nearby to meet with his most powerful lieutenant, the consequences would almost certainly be catastrophic.

As Masur waited, he had no idea of the events that had led to this improbable journey, nor the role played by an ultra-Orthodox woman he had never heard of in bringing about his fateful mission.

For Hitler, only one task remained before he and his mistress took the cyanide capsules that had been stashed in the bunker ahead of the approaching forces—a Red Army intent on capturing the man responsible for unleashing years of unimaginable suffering. But if the Reich was doomed, the Führer was determined as his last act to take every last Jew with him and complete the Final Solution, which had not yet achieved its ultimate aim.

The systematic extermination of European Jewry had come to a halt five months earlier with the destruction of the Auschwitz gas chambers on November 25. Since that time, tens of thousands more Jews had succumbed during brutal death marches, or from the disease and hunger that ravaged the remaining concentration camps. Now, those left alive faced the same fate as the nearly six million who had already fallen victim to the Nazis’ monstrous genocide, unless something was done to countermand Hitler’s orders.

Masur’s mission, then, was no less than preventing the imminent extinction of European Jewry. The burden weighed heavily on him as he spent the day awaiting an unlikely encounter that few could have imagined possible. When he was still waiting at midnight, however, it appeared that his trip had been undertaken in vain. Finally, at precisely 2:30 a.m., he heard a car pull up. As the front door opened, Norbert Masur came face-to-face with the Devil.

The fact that there were any Jews left at all to save at this stage of the war could be explained by an extraordinary confluence of events and a disparate cast of characters. Heroes and villains alike came together at history’s darkest hour for a variety of motives that historians still struggle to explain.

Today, visitors who flock to St. Gallen, Switzerland, can’t help but feel that they’ve been transported into a picture postcard. Nestled in a valley between Lake Constance and the spectacular snowcapped mountains of the Appenzell Alps, the small city is surrounded by quaint timbered cottages, verdant rolling fields, and medieval architecture that harkens back to the village’s seventh-century founding by an Irish monk. An eighth-century abbey still towers over the city, its library designated a UNESCO heritage site. In the tenth century, the abbey housed a Benedectine nun named Wiborada, who warned locals of an imminent Hungarian invasion and lost her life saving the abbey. For her heroic efforts, Saint Wiborada was the first woman ever canonized by the Roman Catholic Church. Nine centuries later, an equally brave woman would make her mark on the city.

When Recha Sternbuch arrived in St. Gallen in 1928 to settle with her new husband, the city hardly looked different than it does today. She had imagined the town as a safe and prosperous place to raise a family. But as in Wiborada’s day, there were dark clouds looming over the border.

Recha was born in Kraków, Poland, in 1905, the daughter of Rabbi Markus (Mordechai) Rottenberg, a respected Ultra-Orthodox scholar whose Talmudic interpretations were known throughout Europe. At the beginning of the twentieth century, many Orthodox communities, especially in Western Europe, were succumbing to pressures from the younger generation toward a more liberal or modernized approach. This worried the elders, concerned about the encroaching influence of the Conservative and Reform movements sweeping Jewish communities throughout the world. The Belgian city of Antwerp, in fact, was one of the few Western communities where the ultra-Orthodox—or Haredim—still dominated Jewish life. During the Middle Ages, virtually all Jews had been expelled from the city as “usurers” or had been massacred during the 1309 Crusade of Pope Clement V.1 When Austria took over the country in 1713, Jews were allowed to return in small numbers, though it took the French Revolution at the end of the eighteenth century to restore nominal rights. Full religious freedom only came in 1830 when the country achieved independence.

Antwerp had been known as one of the world’s great diamond centers since the fifteenth century, when Lodewijk van Bercken pioneered a revolutionary diamond-cutting technique. By the time the first diamond bourse was established in 1893, the industry had been mostly taken over by Orthodox Jews—traders, cutters and polishers—many of whom had fled pogroms in Eastern Europe.2 By the eve of the First World War, the Jewish population of Antwerp had mushroomed to approximately thirty-five thousand, most of whom had some connection to the diamond trade. And while the community was thriving financially, the elders worried that its spiritual needs were not being met. Jewish religious life had to be preserved and nurtured, lest the community suffer the same fate as Brussels, a metropolis whose Jewish community was dominated by largely assimilated French émigrés.

To that end, they issued a plea eastward to Poland, where word of a rabbi from Galicia known for his strict orthodoxy and compassionate wisdom had reached all the way to Belgium. In 1912, Markus Rottenberg arrived in Antwerp with his wife, Dvora, six sons and three daughters—including seven-year-old Rachel (Recha)—to take up the post as chief rabbi of the city’s Haredi community.3 Only weeks earlier, Rabbi Rottenberg had attended the founding conference of Agudath Israel in Katowice as a representative of the Council of Torah Sages. The goal of this historic gathering had been to strengthen Orthodox institutions throughout the world in the face of perceived threats from the growing liberal and Zionist movements. Recha’s father’s role in the founding of the Agudah would later provide her with crucially important credentials.4

Growing up in a religious community with rigidly defined gender roles, Recha had few opportunities for furthering her formal religious education. But the young girl had an unquenchable thirst for knowledge and would quiz her brothers when they returned home from yeshiva each day. As there were no Jewish schools in Belgium open to girls at the time, Recha attended a public school, where she learned French and a little Flemish. The Rottenberg household had become known as a gathering place for lively religious discourse. And when the learned scholars came to discuss the sacred books, young Recha took it all in—often lying in her bed listening to her father passionately interpret the midrash for the visitors who came from far and wide seeking his spiritual guidance. By the time she was a teenager, those same visitors were often surprised to find a girl participating fully and knowledgeably in their discussions.

In 1905, the same year that Recha Rottenberg was born in Poland, Naftali Sternbuch arrived in Basel, Switzerland, with his wife and seven children, including his ten-year-old son Yitzchok (Isaac). He came not from the old country but from the United States, to which his family had fled after a pogrom in Moldova eight months earlier.5 New York at the time was not a welcoming environment for an Orthodox Jewish immigrant. Sternbuch decided to book passage to Switzerland to start a new life in a quaint medieval metropolis on the Rhine known as Basel. The city’s tiny Jewish community traced its roots to the French Revolution, when the town granted a request by France to allow the temporary settlement of a handful of Jewish families fleeing anti-Semitic violence in Alsace. By 1805, Basel’s Jewish community numbered some 128 people.6 The relative peace lasted a short thirty years before the Jews were expelled en masse when the separatist canton of Basel Land was established. It wasn’t until 1866 that Jews were allowed to settle in the area for good. Two years later, the region saw the establishment of its first synagogue.

Only eight years before Sternbuch’s arrival, Basel had played host in 1897 to the first ever Zionist Congress, chaired by the founder of modern Zionism, Theodor Herzl. In the decades before the Second World War, most Haredim—including Recha’s father, Markus Rottenberg—were rigidly anti-Zionist. Some believed that Jews were forbidden to establish a Jewish state in Palestine before the coming of the moshiach (messiah) while others believed that the movement’s secular nationalist direction was a threat to religious observance.

It is possible, in fact, that it was the location of this historic Zionist conference that inspired Naftali to settle in Basel as his own one-man religious mission—determined that his piety would act as a counterpoint against the secular Zionist threat. Indeed, his arrival in 1905—sporting the long beard and black garments favored by the Chassidim—must have been quite a sight to the largely assimilated Jewish community who preferred not to call too much attention to themselves for fear of provoking anti-Semitism. Sternbuch soon founded Switzerland’s first shtiebel (small communal prayer house), which would serve the growing community of ultra-Orthodox who followed him to Basel in the years to come. His presence was initially met with suspicion and animosity, but he quickly succeeded in winning over his neighbors with his tremendous community spirit, generosity, devotion, and warmth.7 Many a neighbor—Jew and gentile—took note of the sheer joy that exuded from the Sternbuch household. Exuberant Eastern European dances, music, drinking, and merriment were part of the Chassidic tradition, but few Jews had experienced these living among the staid Swiss community.8

As with the Rottenberg house in Antwerp, distinguished Orthodox scholars came from all over Europe to confer with Sternbuch and to assist him in his mission. He had gradually softened his stance against a Jewish state in Palestine in favor of a new movement known as religious Zionism, which sought to bring religion to the mostly secular settlers who had traveled to the Holy Land to establish a Jewish state. One of the movement’s founders was the future chief rabbi of Palestine, Abraham Isaac Kook, who happened to be staying with the Sternbuchs when war broke out in Europe in 1914. He ended up residing with the family for nearly two years, though by this time they had already moved from Basel to St. Gallen.9 Despite his embrace of Zionism, Kook continued to have strong reservations about its secular direction. When Theodor Herzl died in 1904, Rabbi Kook delivered a eulogy that pointed out what he called the fundamental failure of the Zionist enterprise, the fact “that they do not place at the top of their list of priorities the sanctity of God and His great name, which is the power that enables Israel to survive.”10 Kook’s long stay with the Sternbuchs likely had a strong influence on the family’s unusually flexible attitudes toward Palestine and would play a significant role in their later rescue efforts.

In 1928, tragedy struck the Rottenberg family when Recha’s aunt died suddenly, leaving a four-year-old daughter, Ruth. Recha couldn’t bear to see the young girl brought up without a mother. Still single, she startled her family by announcing her intention to adopt Ruth if she could find a man who was willing to marry her and raise the girl together. Word soon spread through Haredi circles. The daughter of the great Rabbi Rottenberg was available, but there was an unusual catch. Intrigued, Isaac Sternbuch—having failed to find a wife in the largely assimilated Swiss Jewish community—embarked on the journey to Belgium to meet the rabbi and his daughter. Such an expedition was perfectly in keeping with the Orthodox tradition of shidduch—a form of matchmaking from the Middle Ages—which had long been used to bring Jewish couples together. Still, most men would have been taken aback by the unusual condition that Recha had imposed for her hand. Charmed by the worldly young woman, however, Isaac had no hesitation. They were married within weeks. By the time the couple returned to Switzerland, they were accompanied by a young girl whom they would raise as if she were their own.11

Switzerland came as something of a culture shock to Recha at first. Having grown up surrounded by Haredi Jews in Antwerp as the daughter of a celebrated rabbi, she was surprised to arrive in St. Gallen and find only a tiny Jewish community, numbering around 650.12 Most of them didn’t share her Orthodox ways, despite Naftali Sternbuch’s best efforts. The first Orthodox Jews had only settled in the canton in 1919 and, although there were two synagogues, both were too liberal for the Sternbuchs to attend. Instead, they worshipped at the makeshift schul that Naftali had set up in his home for the tiny Orthodox population. Fortunately, the Rottenbergs had spoken German at home and Recha attended a French school as a child, so when she arrived in Switzerland, she already spoke two of the country’s three main languages without a trace of an accent.

St. Gallen was the capital of the Swiss textile trade at the time. Its close proximity to both the German and Austrian borders helped facilitate trade with its European neighbors that was critical to Switzerland’s economic prosperity. Sternbuch had originally traveled there from Basel to open an embroidery factory. His sons, Isaac and Elias (Eli), ran the successful business with their father and each was prosperous. The success of the business had allowed Isaac to purchase a spacious and comfortable modern apartment, suitable for raising the large families that the Haredim, then as now, considered their obligation in order to ensure the future of the Jewish people. As a married woman, Recha was expected to keep her head covered for religious reasons. In later years, many ultra-Orthodox women wear a wig to comply. But in that era, women were more likely to wear headscarves or hats. Shortly after her wedding, Recha crafted a fashionable head covering that she described as a turban—and which would not have been out of place on the streets of Paris. It would become her trademark. Unlike the Orthodox men whose beards and black garments made them immediately stand out as religious Jews, her appearance often proved useful in her skillful dealings with both gentiles and secular Jews, for which she would soon become known. As a result of her insular upbringing, Recha had never before experienced genuine anti-Semitism. It is not that Belgians were necessarily more welcoming of Jews than the Swiss. But in Antwerp, Recha had had little contact with the goyim (gentiles) except in school. To preserve their culture, the Haredi preferred to keep to their tight-knit religious community, except in matters of commerce.

_______

It was not until 1874 that the Swiss constitution finally granted the nation’s Jewish citizens full civil and religious rights, making it one of the last European countries to formalize Jewish emancipation. Nevertheless, the old prejudices flourished and Jews were still widely seen as alien to the Swiss way of life.

Swiss historian Simon Erlanger traces Swiss animus toward the Jews to a number of unique factors stemming from the country’s fragmented political and socio-linguistic structures. When the Swiss state was formally established in 1848, there were twenty-five cantons13—administrative sub-divisions each with its own constitution, government, and courts. While most of the cantons are predominantly German speaking, a good portion of the country is also French or Italian, which created further chasms along linguistic and cultural lines. It also created deep religious divisions between Catholics and Protestants. The largely pastoral nation landlocked in the middle of Europe consisted of skilled craftsmen, dairy farmers, tradesmen, and merchants. The First World War caused massive upheaval that threatened to destroy the stability that had been carefully nurtured since the Congress of Vienna established Swiss independence in 1815. The Congress also formalized the single greatest factor that has ensured the country’s survival for two centuries: its neutrality. And while this meant Switzerland didn’t officially take sides during the Great War, the conflict saw much of the German majority siding with the Kaiser while the French- and Italian-speaking cantons tended to side with the Allied countries.

When peace came in 1918, the deep divisions had to be repaired. “Finding a common denominator became crucial,” observes Erlanger. “And when a society has trouble defining a positive common identity, it can use a negative one instead; if you cannot say who you are, you can at least say who you are not. Thus, the nation united around the principle of not being Jews: being Jewish became the opposite of being Swiss. Jews were the essential ‘Other’ against which the collective was defined.”14

Following the war, a new word began to slowly creep into the Swiss vocabulary—Überfremdung (over-foreignization). Increasingly, a xenophobia took hold that would have a far-reaching impact on governmental policy in the turbulent years ahead. As early as 1917, the Swiss state established a “federal police for foreigners”—known as the Alien Police—designed to combat foreign influence that was being blamed for threatening the national identity.15 Interestingly, the number of foreigners living in Switzerland had actually decreased significantly since the war, suggesting that this threat was largely contrived. In 1910, the total percentage of foreigners living in Switzerland was 14.7. By 1920, that figure had dropped to 10.4 percent, and those numbers would continue to decline until 1941, when the total stood at only 5.2 percent of the Swiss population.16 But it was becoming increasingly evident from the rhetoric around over-foreignization that the word was in fact synonymous with “Jewification” (Verjudung). (This was the conclusion of a 2002 national commission studying Swiss refugee policy during the Nazi era, which found that measures targeted at foreigners were mostly designed to restrict Jewish immigration.17) During the Great War, handwritten comments in the applications of Jewish immigrants were implicitly aimed at preventing them from obtaining Swiss citizenship. In 1919, the applications of Jews were even stamped with a Star of David, but by the 1930s the practice had been discontinued.

The Bolshevik revolution also likely played a part in exacerbating suspicion of foreigners among the Swiss. Vladimir Lenin had actually lived in Swiss exile during the First World War before returning to Russia in 1917 and leading the revolution there. And while Lenin wasn’t Jewish, anti-Semitic leaflets distributed in Switzerland and elsewhere frequently linked the Bolsheviks to the Jews, thus inflaming suspicions. Ironically, the revolution had resulted in an influx of Russians fleeing to Switzerland to escape the Bolsheviks.

Even the most ardent anti-Semites, however, qualified their attitudes for Jews who were willing to assimilate into the Swiss way of life. Heinrich Rothmund had headed the federal Alien Police since its creation in 1919 and would become the embodiment of anti-Jewish Swiss policy in the years before the Second World War. But even Rothmund was quick to point out that his attitudes toward the Jews didn’t apply to those who were willing to assimilate. His hostility, he emphasized, was aimed at the so-called Eastern Jews (Ostjuden) with their funny customs and clothing. Addressing Parliament about measures designed to normalize policies for Swiss Jews, Rothmund once declared, “As you will see, we are not such horrible monsters after all. But that we do not let anyone walk all over us, and especially not Eastern Jews, who, as is well known, try and try again to do just that, because they think a straight line is crooked, here our position is probably in complete agreement with our Swiss people.”18

Although she had attained Swiss citizenship upon marrying Isaac, Recha Sternbuch and all Haredim would have most certainly fallen into Rothmund’s idea of “Eastern Jews” alien to the Swiss way of life. Indeed, Recha felt much like an alien when she first arrived in St. Gallen to start a family. But she was determined to instill the same spirit and hospitality into her new household as she remembered from her Rottenberg home in Antwerp. It didn’t take long. Most of the houses in the immediate vicinity of the Sternbuch residence didn’t have running hot water. Instead, the water was heated with gas, which was rationed and to be used sparsely. Recha let it be known to her elderly and poorer neighbors that they were most welcome to use her house for laundry or bathing purposes.19 When a baby was born, Recha was always the first to arrive at the new mother’s house with offers of help, even after she gave birth to her first child, Avrohom, in 1929. She also poured herself into charitable causes, and word of her work quickly spread beyond St. Gallen.

In 1933, five weeks and four thousand miles apart, two men assumed the leadership of their respective countries. Adolf Hitler was appointed chancellor of Germany on January 30 and Franklin Delano Roosevelt was inaugurated president of the United States on March 4. The elevation to power of these towering figures would soon have profound effects on the world. But in Switzerland, the Nazis’ ascent at first registered barely a ripple, least of all in the Sternbuch household.

In the immediate aftermath of Hitler’s rise to power next door in Germany, two categories of refugees had begun to stream into Switzerland: political activists opposed to the regime—Communists and Social Democrats—who were already subject to persecution and physical violence at the hands of the Brownshirts even before the Nazis took power; and a small but steady number of Jews who had seen the writing on the wall early on.20 In response to the influx, the Swiss federal government passed a law in 1933 distinguishing between political refugees and others. Only a select few fell into the former category, such as leaders of left-wing political parties, high state officials, and well-known authors. Communists were the most unwelcome, and Swiss authorities let it be known that they would not be granted political refugee status under any circumstances. In all, fewer than four hundred applicants would be granted this status before the start of the Second World War.21 All other refugees were simply designated as foreigners, and as such they fell under the Federal Law on Residence and Settlement of Foreigners. Many of the early refugees intended simply to pass through on their way to England and France, but the possibility of large numbers of Jews pouring into the country prompted Swiss authorities to impose a series of measures to ensure that Switzerland remained a Transitland (transit country), where foreigners were to be prevented from taking up permanent residence. Among the new rules was a ban imposed on any “professional activities.”22 Most refugees during this period, if they were lucky, would be issued “tolerance permits” by the cantonal government, permitting them to stay a few months at most.23

The various Jewish relief organizations active throughout the country had pledged to shoulder the costs for the care and accommodations of this first wave of refugees, thus relieving any burden on the state. Between 1933 and 1937, fewer than six thousand Jews were granted refuge in Switzerland. Of these, a significant number had made their way to St. Gallen. Word had spread of a woman living there who personified the Torah principle of hachnasas orchim—the welcoming of guests. During these years, the Sternbuch house was teeming with refugees. “The house was so crowded,” observes Joseph Friedenson, who later tracked down a number of the guests, “that it was not uncommon for refugees to believe at first that the Sternbuch home simply had to be a small hotel—for no family home could be that open, crowded, or busy. Some neighbors complained and said, ‘What’s going on?’ It was a quiet family and all of a sudden there were tens upon tens of people coming in and going out.”24 Recha worked tirelessly to locate temporary homes for the travelers, often finding safe houses in Zürich, home to nearly half the country’s Jewish population at the time. It was here that Isaac maintained his factory, and his business contacts proved useful in helping Recha establish her underground network along with her own extensive Agudah contacts and close ties to the city’s religious community.

When those accommodations filled up, the refugees simply stayed with the Sternbuchs, many for months at a time. One of those guests, Zecharia Reinhold, who had entered the country illegally, later recalled his arrival: “When I came in, there were tables surrounded with people as if at simcha [a festive occasion] where they ate and drank. . . . It was an open house . . . people coming and going all day. . . . The floors of the house were covered with mattresses for the people. . . . There were all kinds, not all frum [devout] . . . she helped everyone. A Yid is a Yid.”25 At one point, recalled Reinhold, the Orthodox refugees attempted to set up a temporary synagogue in a back room but were prevented from doing so by the less religious guests worried about disturbing the neighbors and provoking a potential anti-Semitic backlash. Recha settled the controversy by establishing a daily minyan (a quorum for prayer). Reinhold recalled the gentile neighbors coming by during Yom Kippur and staring wide-eyed at the refugees clad in tallit (Jewish prayer shawls). “They had never seen anything like it,” he remembered. Although it took a while for the neighbors to warm to the Sternbuchs and their strange religious ways, stories would eventually circulate of gentiles climbing trees to cut down branches to help cover the traditional Jewish sukkah during the harvest festival of Sukkot.

During the first five years following the Nazis’ ascension to power, many refugees managed to find their way to the Sternbuchs. The accumulating dark clouds of 1938, however, soon meant that henceforth Recha would have to go to them.

When Austrians woke up on March 12, 1938, they discovered German troops marching through their streets in what became known as the Anschluss. Instead of offering resistance, large crowds greeted the Nazi invaders with raucous cheers and Nazi salutes, leaving little doubt that most were eager to join the Reich. Carl Mogenroth, a German who had moved to Vienna in 1933 to escape the Nazis, later recalled watching the scene. “The Germans marched in to the jubilation of most of the Viennese,” he recalled. “They went wild with joy.”26 Three days later, Hitler himself rode triumphantly through the streets of Vienna in an open-air convertible, acknowledging the cheers of the thousands of overjoyed Austrians. “It was like everyone all of a sudden became Nazi,” recalled a Jewish Viennese resident, Herbert Jellinek.27

As they had watched the persecution of their brethren next door, most Austrian Jews had believed they were safe from a similar fate. The events of March 12, however, caused an overnight upheaval. William Shirer notes that the treatment of Jews in Vienna following the Anschluss was far worse than anything he had seen during his years as a Berlin-based foreign correspondent covering the Reich during its formative years. He describes the behavior of the Nazis in Vienna following the Anschluss as “an orgy of Sadism.” In the immediate aftermath, Jews were forced to scrub election signs from the former regime off the walls and sidewalks. “While they worked on their hands and knees with jeering storm troopers standing over them, crowds gathered to taunt them,” he observed. “Hundreds of Jews, men and women, were picked off the streets and put to work cleaning public latrines and the toilets of the barracks where the SA and the SS were quartered. Tens of thousands more were jailed. Their worldly possessions were confiscated or stolen.”28 The terror accomplished what may have been its goal. Between the Anschluss and the start of the war, almost 100,000 Jews fled Austria. Of this total, between 5,500 and 6,500 made their way to Switzerland.29

The prospect of thousands of Jews pouring across Swiss borders and swelling the ranks of Jews in the country set off immediate alarm bells, not least in the offices of Alien Police Chief Heinrich Rothmund. In September 1938, Rothmund was invited by the German government to tour the Sachsenhausen concentration camp outside Berlin, along with two prominent Swiss pro-Nazi figures: Robert Tobler, a member of the Swiss parliament, and Benno Scaepi, a propagandist for the pro-fascist National Front party. Upon his return from inspecting the camp, Rothmund wrote the Swiss minister of justice and police a telling memo, reporting on conversations he had just had with Nazi officials: “I attempted to make it clear to the gentlemen that the people and government of Switzerland had long since become fully cognizant of the danger of Judaization and have consistently defended themselves against it. . . . The peril can only be met if a people constantly protects itself from the very outset against Jewish exclusiveness and renders that quite impossible.”30

Soon afterwards, the Swiss would implement an infamous policy that would come to be known by its French name, réfoulement—the practice of turning away Jewish refugees at the border and returning them to the Nazis. Exploring the consequences of this policy in 2002, the Swiss commission investigating the country’s wartime refugee policy observed, “The measures agreed in August 1938 to turn back unwanted immigrants were implemented ruthlessly; despite their awareness of the risk refugees ran, the authorities often turned them over directly to the German police. It even happened that border guards struck refugees with the butts of their rifles to bar them from crossing the border.”31 There were exceptions enshrined for children under sixteen, the elderly, and the sick, but most others were to be turned away.

If there was any doubt about which refugees Switzerland considered undesirable, it was dispelled when the Swiss legation in Berlin—on Rothmund’s recommendation—entered into negotiations with Germany to stamp the passports of German Jews with a J to make it easier for Swiss border officials to turn away “non-Aryans.” It was long believed in Switzerland that the J stamp had been instituted by the Nazis as just another of their notorious anti-Semitic measures. But when the documents finally surfaced in the 1950s, it emerged that it was not the Germans who initiated the policy but the Swiss authorities themselves. On September 7, 1938, a directive was circulated to Swiss border officials instructing them to refuse entry to any refugees who attempted to cross without a visa, “Especially those who are Jewish or probably Jewish.” Their passports were to be marked “Turned Back.”32 As part of a reciprocal arrangement, each country agreed that it would turn away Jews without the necessary “authorization” to cross each other’s borders. The Swiss Federal Council adopted the new protocol on October 4, 1938. As the Swiss justice minister would later declare in response to the influx of refugees, “The lifeboat is full.”33


TWO

THE SWISS SCHINDLER

Shortly after the first immigration restrictions were put in place in August 1938, the Sternbuchs received word from contacts in Austria that Jews were being turned away at the border in large numbers. Not for the last time, Recha’s long-standing connections with the Agudah served as an informal network whereby Orthodox Jews throughout Europe functioned as a trusted clandestine intelligence and transportation network to facilitate an underground railroad devoted to rescue operations. A key element of the network—one that would later become an essential element of their rescue efforts during the Holocaust—was identifying and organizing sympathetic gentiles. Although many Haredim led insular lives, others such as Isaac Sternbuch and his brother Eli, were businessmen who interacted with gentile clients on a daily basis. Through these business connections, the family would cultivate an increasingly valuable list of contacts. Soon, a network of helpers—including farmers, truckers, taxi drivers, and police officers1—was mobilized. Recha and others also used their own money to pay professional smugglers (passeurs) when necessary, though their services were expensive, some charging as much as 3000 francs per person. Willi Hutter preferred to call himself a “guide.” His daughter later recalled his arrangement with the Sternbuchs, who would present him with 20 francs for every refugee he brought to them.2 In 1938 currency values, it took just under 4.5 Swiss francs to buy a U.S. dollar, so this was not a great deal of money.3

Jewish refugees fleeing Austria were given instructions about the routes and rendezvous points that would provide a safe haven in Switzerland. Once over the border, they would be brought to St. Gallen, less than twenty miles away. One of the most popular crossing points was located at Diepoldsau in the Rhine Valley. Here, a bend in the river had been removed at the beginning of the twentieth century to prevent flooding. After the Rhine was redirected, it left an area of swampland covered by bush and shrubs. That made it easy to wade across from Austria without detection by border authorities.4

Back on land, the hapless refugees were often surprised to encounter a cheerful Orthodox woman waiting for them with coffee and a smile. They were then spirited away in a vehicle, often under a hay bale or a pile of produce. More often than not, Recha would be accompanied by a helper to drive, but on many occasions, she traveled alone. “When I arrived over the border, I was driven to St. Gallen by a woman dressed in black,” recalled one Austrian refugee.5 Recha’s sister-in-law Gutta Sternbuch would later recall these early rescue missions. “She got word every night that there are Jews trying to get across the border, there are Jews that can’t come over, the Swiss don’t let, they throw them back. They throw them back to the Germans.”6

Recha was hardly the only Swiss rescuer working to smuggle Jews into the country during this period. Throughout Switzerland, scores of political groups and religious organizations took advantage of contacts in Germany and Austria to smuggle thousands of Jews and political activists across the border. These rescuers included countless gentiles who defied their country’s policies to save refugees fleeing from the Reich. Among these was a nineteen-year-old Swiss factory worker named Jakob Spirig-Riesbacher, who is estimated to have saved between 100 and 150 Jews by leading them across the Rhine from Germany or through Austrian forests.7

By the end of 1938, hundreds of refugees—mostly Jewish—had made their way to St. Gallen.8 Having reached the safety of a neutral country, however, they still had one significant obstacle to overcome. Most of the new arrivals—especially the Orthodox—were conspicuous by their appearance. In a city as small as St. Gallen, newcomers stood out immediately. The Swiss authorities had already made it clear that they had no compunction about sending back Jews who had entered the country illegally. Among the many sympathetic gentile contacts that Recha had cultivated over the years, the most important proved to be the St. Gallen police commander, Captain Paul Grüninger, a much beloved local figure and former soccer star who had once played for the national team that won the Swiss Cup. Grüninger had been brought up as a Protestant, though his father was a Catholic. His parents ran a local cigar shop and were fixtures in the town. Following his discharge from the Swiss army after the First World War, Grüninger obtained a teaching diploma and worked for a time as a teacher at a primary school outside Zürich, where he would meet his future wife, Alice. During this period, he joined the country’s powerful center-right Liberal Party, where political connections landed him a job back home as a lieutenant at the St. Gallen police department. The couple’s only child, Ruth, was born in 1921. Four years later, he was promoted to captain and handed command of the cantonal police. The captain was widely known in St. Gallen for his compassion, especially among the less fortunate, to whom he and Alice would often bring food or clothing for the children. Grüninger had been horrified when he first received orders from his superiors in the spring of 1938 to be on the lookout for fugitive Jewish refugees. When Recha approached him with her plan, he didn’t even hesitate. “I could do nothing else,” he later recalled.

“As soon as she had one person or two or three persons or a whole family,” recalled Gutta Sternbuch, “she went to Grüninger and Paul Grüninger wrote in a sort of a passport that they came legally. It was unbelievable for a Swiss to do this.”9 Despite this account, versions of which have been repeated for decades, Grüninger rarely put his own signature on the falsified documents. Instead, it was Jewish relief officials who issued the documents when Recha or even Grüninger himself brought them to the local refugee processing camp at Diepoldsau—set up on the site of an old embroidery factory—where they awaited permits authorizing a temporary stay.10 After the war, many of the refugees who had been saved by Grüninger’s actions described their interactions with the police captain.

Hilde Weinreb, born in Austria’s second largest city, Graz, fled her homeland as a child in 1938. She remembers holing up for an entire day with her parents near the Swiss border, waiting for night to fall. “We were all wet from the rain when it finally grew dark. We sneaked out of our hiding place and warily approached the border. The closer we got, the muddier the terrain became and we could not see the path any longer. There was deathly silence, except for the noise our feet made in the mud and the beating of our hearts. Suddenly a man in uniform appeared out of nowhere. He held a [flashlight] in his hand, shining the light into our faces. We must have looked ashen and were convinced that this was the end. But the man greeted us with a kind smile on his face. I looked at him as if hypnotized. He told us not to be afraid but to come with him to Switzerland, and everything would be okay. It was as he said. Later on, I learned the name of the man. It was Paul Grüninger, the police commander from St. Gallen himself.”11

There are no accurate records to assess how many of the refugees saved by Grüninger were brought to him by Recha Sternbuch, but the number was significant. Among these was Moritz Weisz, a Viennese merchant who later remembered crossing the Rhine near Hohenems in September 1938, along with his wife and seven other members of his extended family. Before setting out, they had been instructed to find the home of Recha Sternbuch in St. Gallen. Upon their arrival, Recha let them hide out in her apartment because they were in the country illegally and were afraid to emerge. Weisz recalls Recha heading out one day to arrange for Grüninger’s assistance. “Soon afterwards, we got documents allowing all of us to stay in Switzerland,” he recalled.12

Recha’s daughter Netty, seven years old at the time of the Anschluss, remembers frequently giving up her bed and sleeping on the floor in favor of the refugees who passed in and out of the apartment.13 All the while, Isaac remained supportive of his wife’s activities, even as she went out until all hours of the night, frequently exposing herself to grave danger. “Isaac not only supported what Recha was doing, he worked harder at his factory to finance her operations, which had a lot of expenses,” recalls their niece Ruth Mandel.14

Grüninger’s operation took care of the refugees whom Recha had personally smuggled in. But she was well aware that there were hundreds, perhaps thousands, of others scattered throughout the country, terrified that they would be rounded up and sent back to face the growing horrors of the Third Reich. Again, she activated her intelligence network to spread the word that she had discovered a way to normalize the status of Jews whose illegal entry put them in danger of imminent deportation. By day, she would race from town to town to gather the names of refugees, often driving as far as Zürich—a little over an hour’s drive—where she had established dozens of safe houses and where Jews could more easily hide than in the tiny community of St. Gallen. By night, she continued her incursions to the border to retrieve the ever-growing numbers of refugees. When she wasn’t on one of her missions, she worked the phones, calling her extensive network all over the country. Her phone bill during these years often exceeded 1,000 francs a month, an enormous sum.15

Even for those who had entered the country legally, the restrictions were severe. Under Swiss regulations, refugees were forbidden to work during their stay. The rules were meant to encourage the visitors to be on their way as quickly as possible. Under no circumstances would they be making Switzerland their home. For Recha, this meant two separate phases to her operation. The first goal was to help Jews flee the Reich over the Swiss border. Next, she was determined to find safe passage for them to another destination where they would find a more permanent welcome. To this end, she utilized contacts in the Chinese and Cuban embassies who were willing to sell visas that could be used to expedite the transport of Jews to those countries. Eventually, a middleman in Zürich would supply a substantial number of visas for passage to Italy or China for the rate of 400 lira—about 20 U.S. dollars—apiece, though these countries were not their intended destination. Although she did not consider herself a Zionist, Recha used the clandestine underground network, the Aliyah Bet, to facilitate the passage of countless refugees to Palestine in defiance of the British blockade and the strict quotas that were imposed after Arab uprisings in 1936.16

While Recha devoted herself full-time to this rescue work, other members of the family were no less devoted to the cause. Zecharia Reinhold, who had been captured by Swiss authorities shortly after entering the country from Austria, recalls what happened while he was awaiting deportation. “In the beginning Mrs. Sternbuch tried very hard to have us legalized. It was not easy, but she finally succeeded. They wanted to send us back. . . . We had been locked up as criminals—we were about twenty or thirty people. It was night and we were sitting in despair. We heard someone climbing up near the window and we were frightened. A voice at the window said, ‘Don’t be afraid.’ This was Eli Sternbuch [Isaac’s brother] bringing us the good tidings. In the morning we were taken to the police station, where they took our names and divided us among several villages.”17 By the end of 1938, Recha’s network was so widespread that a number of advocates were sending refugees from long distances to seek her services. An eighteen-year-old German refugee named Daniel Gromb, who had illegally entered the country on his own, recalls crossing Lake Constance from Austria and making his way to Zürich. There, a refugee lawyer referred him to a woman in St. Gallen who could arrange to legalize his status. When he reached the Sternbuch house, Paul Grüninger happened to be there meeting with Recha. “It was thanks to him that I could stay,” Gromb later recalled.18

In addition to securing their papers, refugees remember Grüninger—sporting distinctive pince-nez glasses and an impeccable uniform—arriving at the refugee internment camp at Diepoldsau to enquire about their welfare. Stories abound of the captain using his own money to purchase shoes or winter clothing. He even took a young girl suffering from a toothache to the dentist and personally paid the bill.19 By November 1938, hundreds of illegal refugees had already been “regularized” by the efforts of Paul Grüninger, the Sternbuchs, and countless others. But if they already had their hands full keeping up with the steady demand, the events of November 9 and 10 would signal a desperate new phase.

On the morning of November 7, 1938, a seventeen-year-old religious Jew named Herschel Grynszpan walked into the German embassy in Paris and shot a junior diplomatic official named Ernst vom Rath to avenge his family’s recent expulsion from Germany to Poland.

Josef Goebbels immediately blamed the assassination on “world Jewry.” The Führer, he announced, had decided that “demonstrations should not be prepared or organized by the Party, but insofar as they erupt spontaneously, they are not to be hampered.”20 This appeared to be a signal to launch the pogroms that the Nazis had seemingly been planning for some time but for which they had been awaiting an excuse. Those assembled for Goebbels’s speech immediately took to the phones to give instructions to regional offices throughout the Reich.21 Before long, “spontaneously” organized mobs of Germans went on a violent rampage through the streets of Germany and Austria, vandalizing and torching more than 7,500 Jewish businesses, destroying more than 250 synagogues, and desecrating cemeteries and other Jewish institutions. Brownshirts also targeted the homes of Jews in Berlin and Vienna, looting valuables and assaulting residents. Rape was also widespread and a significant number of suicides were reported. The pogroms continued for two consecutive nights, leaving at least ninety-one Jews dead and massive destruction in their wake.

The shards of shattered glass left on the street from the vandalism would give the pogroms of November 9 and 10, 1938, the infamous name that some historians consider the true beginning of the Holocaust—Kristallnacht (the Night of Crystal, or Broken, Glass). As the violence was winding down on November 10, state security chief Reinhard Heydrich sent a telegram to all police headquarters marked “Measures Against the Jews Tonight.” Among its directives, he ordered, “As soon as the course of events during the night permits the release of the officials required, as many Jews in all districts—especially the rich—as can be accommodated in existing prisons are to be arrested. For the time being only healthy male Jews, who are not too old, are to be detained. After the detentions have been carried out, the appropriate concentration camps are to be contacted immediately for the prompt accommodation of the Jews in the camps.”22

Acting on these instructions, police arrested more than thirty thousand Jewish men and incarcerated them in three concentration camps—Dachau, Buchenwald, and Sachsenhausen—that had previously been reserved for political prisoners. There, they were kept for weeks under brutal conditions. Many were only released after they promised to leave the Reich immediately. Among these was an Austrian named Brucharz who later recalled conditions inside the camps: “The bloodhounds arrested men, cripples and even children of 11 and 12 years and brought them to the camp. How they attacked them is unbelievable. There was not one of the more than 10,000 in the camp who did not have at least a hole in his scalp. . . . Hundreds became insane and we had later to carry corpses from the washrooms where we had put them.”23

The events of November 9 and 10 served as a wake-up call for the tens of thousands of Austrian Jews who had failed to emigrate following the Anschluss. For those who had once believed the Nazis were a mere nuisance, the events of Kristallnacht signaled that they were no longer safe in the country of their birth. In the days and weeks that followed, Recha Sternbuch would be confronted with a massive increase in the number of Austrians seeking illegal refuge. Her underground network was stretched almost to the breaking point.


THREE

BETRAYED

As fast as the Sternbuchs and their network could smuggle refugees into the country, Paul Grüninger arranged to legalize them. By the time the Swiss Federal Council convened to discuss the “problem” in January 1939, there were nearly twelve thousand refugees in Switzerland, most of them Jewish. And then catastrophe struck. The first indication of trouble had come the previous November 23, when the Swiss Alien Police chief, Heinrich Rothmund, discovered that an unusually large number of visas—more than 2,900—had been granted to Jewish refugees in just three Swiss consular offices near the Swiss–Austrian border—in close proximity to St. Gallen. It’s likely that Jewish relief groups had chosen those offices to file the papers because they were known to be more sympathetic to the plight of refugees or because they had been working with inside contacts, drawn to the cause for mercenary or humanitarian reasons. Ernst Prodolliet fell into the latter category. While stationed at the Bregenz consulate, the former businessman turned diplomat—responsible for processing passports and visas—was caught in October 1938 issuing falsified transit visas for refugees to continue their onward journey through Italy to Palestine and other destinations. At the disciplinary hearing against him, Prodolliet was told by his Swiss Foreign Office superiors, “Our consulate’s job is not to ensure the well-being of Jews.”1 Still others let it be known that their services were for sale. The large numbers of Jews arriving in the St. Gallen canton didn’t seem unusual at first, given its proximity to both the Austrian and German borders. But when Rothmund analyzed the data, indicating almost three thousand arrivals in a period of just a few months, he was immediately suspicious. The Alien Police chief issued a formal directive requesting an investigation by local authorities and demanding that appropriate “sanctions” be applied against those responsible.

The Sternbuchs always believed that Rothmund had been alerted by “informants,” though no evidence has ever emerged to point the finger at any specific culprit. Although St. Gallen was one of the more liberal Swiss cantons, the town also boasted a sizable contingent of the far-right National Front as well as a chapter of the NSDAP, the Nazi Party.2 After the war, an anonymous tract was found in the police archives dating from the summer of 1938, entitled “The Jews of St. Gallen.” It listed a number of prominent Jews residing in the canton, including “The German Jew Kleinberger, the dirty Polish Jew Teitelberg, the very dangerous Jew Sternbuch, and the dirty Jew-in-chief Wyler.” These and other “foreign racial elements” had earned a place on the “Blacklist” because they “exploit the Swiss people, abuse our daughters, poison, rape, and contaminate our brave trusting Christians.”3 There is evidence that two prominent local textile barons, Arnold Mettle-Spaeckler and Max Stoffel, had been financing propaganda pamphlets against what they described as the “monopoly of Jews and Free-Masons”—material apparently designed to discredit business rivals such as Isaac Sternbuch and others whose names appeared on the list.4 The presence in St. Gallen of larger numbers of Jews than usual had in fact inflamed the far right and prompted many such anti-Semitic outbursts.5

The turning point came near the end of 1938. On December 21, a communiqué was received at Heinrich Himmler’s SS headquarters in Berlin from a police outpost in Bregenz, Austria. It alerted the German authorities that a suspicious truck registered in St. Gallen had been spotted outside a Bregenz café the night before. At approximately 8:00 p.m., the truck had been stopped and searched as it approached the Swiss border. Inside, Reich police found two Jewish women hiding under a blanket. The smuggler was a St. Gallen police officer, Karl Zweifel, under the command of Paul Grüninger. Upon Zweifel’s return to Switzerland, Grüninger was left with little choice but to arrest him and a fellow police officer accomplice who had traveled to Germany to retrieve his comrade.

The arrests of two St. Gallen officers for smuggling refugees now placed the canton firmly in Rothmund’s crosshairs. Grüninger was ordered to assemble a report detailing precise immigration figures to account for the “surprising proportions” of refugees in the region.6 On January 26, the captain issued his report. There were currently 859 Jewish refugees present in St. Gallen. Of these, 262 had arrived after the immigration restrictions were imposed in August 1938.7 Appearing to anticipate that the elevated numbers would give away his activities, he provided an addendum to accompany the report. “We have been active mainly for humanitarian reasons,” he explained. “We could not force ourselves—we were not hard-hearted enough—to send back any of the stream of refugees after [Kristallnacht]. It would have been shameful behavior on our part because these people had escaped an ill fate only under great hardship. We were led by the public opinion of the majority of the Swiss people, the media and political parties. Whenever we did attempt to refuse someone entry to the country, there were heartrending scenes. The police staff and border guards declared that they would not go on doing service in such inhumane circumstances.”8

Perhaps hoping to reassure authorities that the illegal refugees had no intention of staying in Switzerland, Grüninger wrote, “Together with the Swiss Association of Jewish Refugees, we are looking for possibilities of an onward journey for the refugees, and it appears that several hundred of them could soon leave Switzerland for Palestine. For this reason, we have not seen any problem in granting them a limited residence permit.”9 He had hoped that this explanation would relieve the pressure and enable him to resume his important rescue work. He assumed he would be backed up by his supervisor, Valentin Keel—a Social Democratic politician who had aided the refugee smuggling operation for months. Unbeknownst to the captain, however, Keel was in the process of betraying him. On January 28, Keel submitted his own report to Rothmund, alerting the Alien Police chief that his office had “discovered that some officials of the cantonal police have not complied with the instructions to refuse illegal immigrants, mainly in cases where their health and life were in danger.” Here, he attempted to save his own skin and set the stage for the events to follow. “We have, however, given strict orders that absolutely no illegal crossings of the border must be allowed any longer. Nevertheless, Police Captain Grüninger has continued to allow people to get in. According to our information, there are 859 immigrants in the canton of St. Gallen at the present time.”10

Two weeks later, on February 11, Rothmund delivered his response. He noted that he had personally given Grüninger “clear instructions” in the past not to allow refugees over the border. “Nevertheless,” he wrote, “it appears that this civil servant and officer sanctioned or even provoked illegal immigrations off his own bat.” The captain’s fate was sealed.

A month later, a St. Gallen police officer reported that a Jewish refugee had confessed that he had entered Switzerland after August 1938, contradicting the papers filed by the Swiss Association of Jewish Refugees, which had been backdated as usual. For the first time, a Jewish organization had been linked to the illegal smuggling of refugees.11

On April 3, 1939, Grüninger made his way from the upper flat he shared with his wife and daughter to police headquarters in the Klosterplatz, where the cantonal government offices were located. On his way in, he was stopped by an officer who informed him that he had been suspended from duty pending an investigation into the “human smuggling” of refugees.12 He would never again set foot in his old office. Two weeks later, an official from the canton arrived at his apartment to demand he hand over his uniform.13

At first, Grüninger denied all knowledge of illegal smuggling. To avoid a paper trail linking him to these operations, he had for the most part refrained from putting his name on the falsified papers issued to refugees after August 1938. Instead, the papers were usually signed by the scion of one of Switzerland’s oldest Jewish families, Sidney Dreifuss, who headed the local Jewish relief organization, the Israelitische Fluechtlingshilfe. The two had worked closely for months. In October 1938, Dreifuss had sent Grüninger a birthday note expressing the best wishes of his organization: “It is our ardent desire to thank you, honored Captain, and to wish you well in the name of all the members of our organization. We would like to express our deep gratitude for your humanitarian activities for all of us and especially for the pitiful refugees. Please do not regard it as a hackneyed phrase but be assured that these thanks come from the bottom of our hearts.”14

But now, confronted with more than 130 backdated visas that bore his signature, Dreifuss was forced to come clean. He had falsified the documents at the request of Captain Grüninger, he admitted. Recalling that Grüninger would often appear at his office twice a day, he declared that he was grateful to the Swiss police official for helping Jews “escape the utter hell of the German Reich” but that it was in fact Grüninger who ordered him to falsify the documents and that he was left with little choice but to comply.15

Six months earlier, the ten most affluent Jews in St. Gallen had been summoned to the office of Saly Mayer, a retired knitwear and lace manufacturer who had headed the Union of Swiss Jewish Communities (SIG) since 1936. Mayer explained that the Jewish community was expected to finance the care and feeding of the refugees who were pouring over the border to escape the Reich. The group contributed the not inconsiderable sum of 400,000 marks to finance ongoing refugee relief. At this meeting, one of the assembled industrialists, Ernst Kleinberg, cautioned the group that the Jews of St. Gallen needed to be careful about taking on too high a profile. “Hitler’s going from success to success,” he noted, “and we’re sitting on a powder keg because we don’t know when it will be our turn.”16 Undoubtedly, the prospect of a prominent Jewish leader linked to an illegal smuggling operation could have had far-reaching implications. “Dreifuss was in a very dangerous place both for himself and his people,” notes St. Gallen historian Stefan Keller. “He had been caught [red handed]. If he took responsibility, he would have likely been arrested and there would have been serious repercussions for the Jewish community and for future refugees. I think he thought he was left with little choice but to name Grüninger.”17

Recha herself had worked closely with Dreifuss, though she had kept her distance for some time from his boss, Saly Mayer, as a result of an altercation between her and the Jewish leader a year earlier. At that time, Recha had received word that two brothers named Blum had been caught entering the country illegally and that Swiss border guards were preparing to deport them back to the Reich in accordance with the réfoulement policy. Recha decided to pay a visit to Mayer, who was said to enjoy cordial relations with Heinrich Rothmund himself. At the SIG offices in St. Gallen, she implored Mayer to use his influence to save the brothers from a tragic fate. To her dismay, the Jewish leader refused to intervene. Instead, he chose to admonish her. “Frau Sternbuch, if you were a good Swiss citizen you would consider it your duty to take the two men who had crossed illegally by the collar and hand them over to the police. You know the Jewish rule of dina demalchusa dina—the rule of the land has the [validity of religious law].”18 Recha would not be lectured to by this officious bureaucrat, especially on matters of religion. “Herr Mayer, you obviously don’t know me. I am a Jewish mother and I don’t know what the law says. I only know that we have to save these people. If you refuse to be of any help, I will have nothing further to do with you.” In years to come, in fact, members of Recha’s rescue network would accuse Mayer himself of informing on Paul Grüninger, though no evidence has ever emerged to support this accusation.19

Dreifuss’s confession had dealt the final blow. On May 12, 1939, Grüninger was formally dismissed from his post and had criminal charges brought against him. A year later, in the fall of 1940, a panel of judges declared him guilty of “violating his oath” and falsifying the papers of twenty-one illegal refugees. “Such underhanded practices threaten the necessary trust and the respectability of authorities and the reliability of subordinates,” the court declared.20 He was also cited for arranging for at least 118 questionnaires to be doctored at the Jewish relief camp. The tribunal stripped him of his pension and left him virtually unemployable.

Left penniless after his dismissal, the forty-nine-year-old struggled to make a living with a series of odd jobs. When Recha heard of the financial plight of the man who had been so instrumental in her own rescue operations, she and her husband provided the funds for Grüninger to open up his own store in Basel, selling raincoats manufactured by Isaac’s brother, Eli. They also arranged a job for Ruth in the family textile business.21 For decades, Switzerland resisted calls to pardon the man who is today often referred to as the “Swiss Schindler.” In December 1970, after a series of media reports about his efforts, the Swiss government finally sent a letter of apology, but still refused to reinstate his pension. A year later, Yad Vashem bestowed on Grüninger the title of “Righteous Gentile Among the Nations,” just a few months before he died. His conviction was finally overturned by Switzerland in 1995.

If the suspension of her powerful police ally had dealt a severe setback to Recha Sternbuch’s efforts, what happened next proved fatal to the operation. On the very same day that Paul Grüninger was officially dismissed—May 12, 1939—Recha was ordered to report to St. Gallen police headquarters. Upon arrival, she was presented with a long litany of criminal charges against her, likely gleaned from the investigation into Grüninger.

Among the most serious of these charges was “collusion”—the accusation that she had worked with a vast underground network to illegally smuggle refugees into the country. She was also charged with bribing a consul to obtain Cuban visas. It didn’t take long to discover what the authorities were after. It was made clear that if she was willing to supply a list of her accomplices, she could escape harsh punishment. When she refused to do so, she was arrested and placed in custody. In a letter she sent to the prosecuting attorney from the detention center in May, Recha politely explained her reluctance to share the names of her collaborators. In this document can be found telling clues as to her motivations. It is especially important because Recha rarely spoke of her extraordinary actions, even to family and friends: “I always believed that when innocent persecuted people ask me for help and nobody suffers a loss through my help, that only I will be punished. I will gladly choose to be punished because if one has seen the mental and physical exhaustion of these people when they come from the border, one would prefer, with satisfaction, to endure punishment rather than to send them back.”22

Although the Sternbuch family business was thriving and she could likely have afforded to hire the best criminal attorney in northern Switzerland, she at first chose to defend herself against the charges. Her statement makes it clear that she considered herself a Swiss patriot: “I was so agitated yesterday when they sent me a lawyer. I don’t want anybody to cover up my actions or try to cast them in such a light that I would escape punishment. . . . Your demand however . . . that I should denounce human beings that haven’t harmed anyone, and for the most part are poor, decent workers who could not bear to suffer punishment, be it financial or a loss of their employment for a few months, bringing extreme hardship to their wives and children, this I cannot do. Do you really expect me to denounce the fathers of these families and bring them misfortune?”23

By the time her case came to trial, Recha had reluctantly agreed to retain a lawyer to fight the charges. She could not save Jews, she reasoned, sitting behind bars. On the stand, she once again reiterated her unequivocal objection to naming names, though she had no hesitation admitting to her own role in smuggling refugees. Asked to swear an oath, she declared, “My willingness to give truthful information as far as the investigation concerns me. However, I refuse to provide any information about third parties who in any way or manner were helping me with the illegal entry of immigrants into Switzerland.” She proceeded to explain how she cared for approximately fifteen or twenty immigrants in her own home in August 1938 but a month later furnished a larger home where many of them were moved. “I have financed these immigration transports out of my own means; when these refugees didn’t have the money, I paid their debts to chauffeurs and others . . . because I didn’t want these people to suffer damage.”

She was ordered to name these chauffeurs who had participated in the clandestine operations. “It is quite impossible for me to permit myself to be used as an informer, and I think it grossly unfair to expect such a thing of me,” she responded. The prosecutor had in his possession a thick dossier of individual cases where Recha was alleged to have participated in illegal smuggling, but his line of questioning made it clear that the authorities were not terribly interested in the cases where she had assisted refugees after they made their way over the border. Instead, he was intent on identifying upper-level officials and police accomplices who might have aided her operations—activities that would “naturally discredit the Swiss in the eyes of the Germans.” He pressed her about one case dating to New Year’s Eve 1938, in which she had a taxi driver take her to the St. Margarethen border station to pick up a family. “It has been reported to us that prior to the arrival of this family, you contacted the police there. . . . We wish to learn from you the names of all your middlemen of whose services you have availed in order to bring immigrants illegally and unobserved over the Swiss border. We have some definite evidence in this respect.”24

Recha was unbending. “I will not answer that,” she replied. The trial eventually turned to the more serious charge. Confronted with evidence that she had obtained visas from a gentile named Menzel in exchange for a fee, Recha did not deny that she had on occasion resorted to bribery: “Conditions today are unfortunately such that many times it appears impossible, or is in fact impossible, to obtain a visa in a legal manner and for payment of the regular taxes. This is particularly so if entry to a certain country has been closed or where there are also other difficulties with the Alien Police. Many times there is no choice but to resort to the rather unpleasant means of bribing a consular official. I personally consider this completely against my convictions but conditions actually force me to resort to this means. Mr. Menzel is my middleman who helps me obtain visas through this aforementioned means. I have to compensate Mr. Menzel for his efforts, 400 lira for each passport. On occasion I handed him eighteen passports to obtain the necessary visas to Italy.”

Here, her attorney turned Switzerland’s restrictive refugee policy into an advantage. After all, the government had made it clear that the country was to be used as a temporary transit zone. Recha was simply facilitating their journey so that they could be in and out of Switzerland as quickly as possible. He pointed out that the authorities had in fact given their blessing to her efforts. “A few weeks before Mrs. Sternbuch was arrested and kept in prison,” he told the court, “she went to the Alien Police in Bern with sixteen refugee passports. They told her that if she had any difficulties about emigration she should refer them back to Bern. . . . One should also point to the (illegal Aliyah Bet) Palestine transport in the spring of 1939 in which Mrs. Sternbuch took an active part. In these cases, she secured hundreds of Chinese visas, although the real goal of the recipients was to land illegally on the coast of Palestine. These visas were used with the intention of fooling the countries where they passed through, because Italy, for instance, would never give a transit visa unless the final destination was indicated.”25 The court appeared sympathetic to this argument. If Recha had been guilty of violating the letter of Swiss law, then surely her actions were in keeping with the spirit. Her lawyer moved to dismiss all charges, but not before questioning why those charges had been brought in the first place: “There is another question as to whether denunciations of other unknown persons caused this investigation. Unfortunately, in looking over these documents, one has the feeling that Mrs. Sternbuch has been made the scapegoat.”26

Citing “lack of evidence,” the judge dismissed all charges against her. Afterwards, he summoned her to his chambers and handed her an envelope. Inside was a contribution of 100 francs to be used for her rescue operations.27 It was a poignant gesture—but just one example of the many Swiss who had in their own way rejected their country’s hard-hearted policies. When the collective soul-searching began decades after the war had ended, many asked why more Swiss hadn’t done the same. Given the horrors that awaited the Jews who were turned away at the border, how could anybody in good conscience have delivered people into the hands of their executioner? Switzerland isn’t the only country that found itself asking that question. By the time she was arrested in May 1939, Recha Sternbuch had watched in despair while the Nazis gradually escalated the slow persecution of her people, culminating in the pogroms of Kristallnacht that made her work all the more urgent. Yet—like Paul Grüninger and even Heinrich Rothmund—Recha still had no idea of the unimaginable horrors that lay ahead. Nobody did.


FOUR

STRANGE BEDFELLOWS

By the time Josef Hell encountered him in 1922, Adolf Hitler, a failed artist and decorated war veteran, had already seized control of the fledgling National Socialist German Workers’ Party (NSDAP). Hitler’s skills as an orator were beginning to attract large crowds on the streets of Munich, drawn to his blistering denunciation of the Versailles Treaty, which he claimed had been engineered by Bolshevik elements controlled by the “Jewish swindle.”

Attending one of Hitler’s increasingly virulent anti-Semitic speeches, Hell afterwards asked him what he proposed to do to the Jews should he one day take power. The retired army major turned journalist, who would one day become editor of the Catholic weekly Der gerade Weg, recalled Hitler’s unsettling response. “He no longer looked at me,” Hell recalled, “but beyond me into emptiness and made his next statement in a rising voice; he was seized by a sort of paroxysm and wound up shouting at me as if I were a large audience: ‘If I am ever really in power, the destruction of Jews will be my first and most important job. As soon as I have the power, I shall have gallows after gallows erected, for example, in Munich on the Marienplatz—as many as the traffic allows. Then the Jews will be hanged one after another, and they will stay hanging until they stink. They will stay hanging as long as hygienically possible. As soon as they are untied, then the next group will follow and that will continue until the last Jew in Munich is exterminated. Exactly the same procedure will be followed in other cities until Germany is cleansed of the last Jew.’ ”1

Although it is a contemporary account, Hell did not publish Hitler’s call for mass murder at the time, and if he had, it likely would have received little attention. Few were paying much notice to the obscure Austrian-born politician in those nascent years of the movement, outside a growing following of fanatical followers. And there is no evidence that he again went as far as advocating liquidation in any of his public pronouncements during these years. Indeed, if Hitler had consistently shared these genocidal musings, those who failed to heed the warning would have had no excuse for ignoring the signs. But by the time Hitler led the failed Beer Hall Putsch a year later, in November 1923, his prescription for what he called the “Jewish Peril” had already taken a very different tone, perhaps out of political expediency, revealing the tactical considerations of a wily political operative with broader electoral ambitions.

In 1924, Hitler was convicted of treason and sentenced to serve five years in Landsberg Prison for his part in the ill-fated coup. Here, he dictated the first volume of the memoir outlining his vision, which would be published a year later as Mein Kampf. Its words have been studied by generations of historians seeking clues as to the future dictator’s intentions. Many have asked how the world could have so blithely ignored the signs. The closest Hitler comes to advocating genocide in this work, however, is in referencing the mustard gassing that he had experienced during the First World War: “If at the beginning of the War and during the War, twelve or fifteen thousand of these Hebrew corrupters of the people had been held under poison gas, as happened to hundreds of thousands of our very best German workers in the field, the sacrifice of millions at the front would not have been in vain. On the contrary: twelve thousand scoundrels eliminated in time might have saved the lives of a million real Germans.”2

Some have claimed that the manifesto and its reference to killing Jews serves as a blueprint for the Final Solution. But British historian Ian Kershaw and most other experts disagree. “It was not a prescription for future action,” writes Kershaw, “but the thought never left him.”3 The Nationalist Socialist Party platform, adopted in 1920, contained twenty-five points. Only one of these, number four, directly referred to the Jews. “Only those who are our fellow countrymen can become citizens,” it declares. “Only those who have German blood, regardless of creed, can be our countrymen. Hence no Jew can be a countryman.” The seventh plank in the platform contains a further clue. “We demand that the State make it its duty to provide opportunities of employment first of all for its own Citizens. If it is not possible to maintain the entire population of the State, then foreign nationals (non-Citizens) are to be expelled from the Reich.”4

By the time Hitler rose to power in January 1933, the NSDAP platform had stood largely unchanged for more than a decade. That month, the German Jewish population stood at just over 520,000, representing less than 1 percent of the country’s total populace.5

On March 12 that year, two Jewish Americans—a musician and a medical student—were assaulted by Nazis on the streets of Berlin. The same day, the national executive committee of the American Jewish Congress (AJC)—led by the country’s most prominent Jewish leader, Rabbi Stephen Wise—convened at New York’s Commodore Hotel to discuss how to respond to the events in Germany. During what The New York Times described as a “turbulent three-hour session,” the committee agreed to recommend a series of protests, including a rally at Madison Square Garden. A week later, 836 people representing 236 separate Jewish organizations attended an emergency conference at the Astor Hotel to plan a “day of national protest against the mistreatment of Jews in Germany.” Nearly 700 more were turned away at the hotel entrance because the meeting room was already overflowing. At this meeting, the group agreed to stage the Madison Square Garden protest on March 27. They also called on President Franklin Roosevelt—inaugurated only two weeks earlier—to rescind America’s restrictive immigration laws in favor of German Jews “who may wish to receive a haven of refuge from political or religious persecution.”6 On the same day that Jewish groups were convening in New York, the Times German correspondent filed a detailed dispatch describing “atrocities” suffered by German Jews at the hands of the Nazis with reports of the victims “fleeing persecution” in large numbers.

Four days before the rally was scheduled to take place, thousands of Jews and gentiles protested outside the offices of two German shipping lines, calling for a boycott of German businesses and goods. Within days, the lines had experienced a significant number of canceled bookings. After AJC vice-president W.W. Cohen declared that “any Jew who buys German goods is a traitor,” two thousand Jewish war veterans paraded to New York’s City Hall to deliver the message while ten thousand people lined the route to cheer them on.7

On March 27, a mob twenty-three thousand strong—with forty thousand more listening on a PA system set up outside—packed Madison Square Garden to hear a wide variety of speakers denounce the new Nazi regime and urge Americans to raise their voices in opposition. Although the rally had been organized by the AJC, many of the most prominent featured speakers were in fact gentiles. Among them was New York’s former Catholic governor, Alfred E. Smith, who had run for president on the Democratic ticket five years earlier. Accustomed to blaming anti-Nazi reports on the Jews, the regime was clearly taken aback at the escalating criticism leveled by American Christian clergy and churches against the Nazis in the weeks since Hitler had taken power.

On March 29, the Führer publicly announced the regime’s response to the “campaign of lies.” He decreed that a boycott of Jewish businesses would begin April 1 as a “defensive measure against Jewish atrocity propaganda abroad.” Jews must recognize that if the protests and boycotts continued, it would lead to sharp measures against German Jews, he warned. Appointed by the regime to coordinate the boycott was Julius Streicher, editor and publisher of the fiercely anti-Semitic newspaper Der Stürmer. Taking up his duties, Streicher issued a directive that the boycott would commence precisely at 10:00 a.m. on Saturday. In his paper, he compared the coming campaign to a war: “Jewry wanted this battle,” he wrote. “It shall have it until it realizes that the Germany of the brown battalions is not a country of cowardice and surrender. Jewry will have to fight until we have won victory. National Socialists! Defeat the enemy of the world. Even if the world is full of devils, we shall succeed in the end.”8

The day before the boycott was scheduled to begin, Goebbels had delivered a radio broadcast taking up the same theme, “Against the Atrocity Campaign of World Jewry.” The Jews were mistaken, he warned, if they believed they could “call upon an international world power” to strengthen their position within Germany. He dismissed anti-Nazi reports circulating abroad as a “campaign of lies and tales of atrocity.” In fact, he claimed, the Germans had not “touched a hair” on the head of any German Jew. If the “atrocity campaign” against Germany ceased, he promised that the country would return to “normal circumstances.” But if not, the boycott campaign would be escalated to “destroy German Jewry.”9 The following day, Nazi Brownshirts stationed themselves in front of Jewish-owned businesses throughout the country along with the offices of Jewish professionals. These businesses had been marked the night before with a large Star of David painted in yellow and red along with signs painted with anti-Semitic slogans.

In the end, the Nazis called off the boycott after only a day. Instead, the regime resorted to subtler methods of economic retaliation. Less than a week later, on April 7, the government introduced a law excluding those who were not “of Aryan descent” from the civil service. An edict a few days later clarified that this included Germans who had “particularly Jewish” parents or grandparents. Before the law could be passed, President von Hindenburg forced the regime to introduce a number of exclusions, including an exemption for those who had served in the First World War. Albert Einstein—already the world’s most prominent scientist—submitted his resignation to the Prussian Academy of Sciences in Berlin and prepared to emigrate, the first of nine Jewish Nobel Laureates to leave Germany because of Nazi exclusion policies.

On May 10, a month after the civil service law was introduced, pro-Nazi student groups at universities throughout the Reich staged public book burnings of works by Jewish authors and other writers considered “un-German,” including Einstein, Sigmund Freud, and Bertolt Brecht, a gentile playwright who was widely believed to be a Jew. Even Helen Keller’s book How I Became a Socialist made it onto the list of those to be destroyed. Watching the Nazis continue to target their brethren only convinced the worldwide Jewish community to step up their tactics. By July 1933, the boycott against German businesses had inflicted so much damage to its bottom line that the chairman and the entire board of the Hamburg-American shipping line were forced to resign. “The disaffection of the outside world toward Germany and the boycott movement are making themselves strongly felt,” admitted the company’s executive chairman, Max von Schinkel, in submitting his resignation. “This has severely hurt the Hamburg-American’s business and is continuing to hurt German shipping generally.”10

Soon, U.S. imports from Germany had plummeted by nearly a quarter from a year earlier.11 The German regime was clearly worried about the economic effects of the boycott. In August 1933, Goebbels told a Stuttgart festival gathering that he longed for the day when the German Reich “will have burst the iron boycott with which the world has encircled us.”12 At the end of the month, the effects were still weighing on the propaganda chief when he arrived to address the first Nuremberg Party rally since the Nazis took power. “We still feel ourselves handcuffed and threatened by this cleverly thought-out plot,” he told the party faithful. “. . . This boycott is causing us much concern, for it hangs over us like a cloud.”13

In 1933, less than 10 percent of the Jewish population of Germany would have described themselves as Zionist, while the majority of Jews belonged to liberal congregations similar to the Conservative and Reform movements that were becoming dominant in America during the same period. In Germany, for the most part, these congregations still rejected the idea of a Jewish state even as their American and British counterparts were warming to the idea. Only about 10 percent of German Jews were Orthodox at the time.14 Overwhelmingly, those in the Jewish community were anxious to distance themselves from the Eastern European shtetls and the perceived backwards peasant life that their ancestors had left behind.

“Except for a small Orthodox group, traditional Judaism in Germany had practically disappeared before World War I,” writes Israeli historian Shulamit Volkov. “In its place a new and modern Jewish community grew up. Its demographic, professional, and social distinctiveness reinforced the community’s cohesiveness and its social and cultural identity, not in the traditional sense, but in a new way.” These modern Jews strongly identified themselves as both Jewish and German and most still rejected the Zionist call for a separate homeland.15

In 1917, the British foreign secretary, James Balfour, had sent a dispatch to one of Britain’s most prominent Jewish leaders, Baron Walter Rothschild, for dissemination to the U.K.’s Zionist Federation. It signaled an important shift in Britain’s intentions toward the region five years before it received a mandate from the League of Nations to govern Palestine in 1922. “His Majesty’s government views with favour the establishment in Palestine of a national home for the Jewish people,” Balfour wrote, “and will use their best endeavours to facilitate the achievement of this object, it being clearly understood that nothing shall be done which may prejudice the civil and religious rights of existing non-Jewish communities in Palestine, or the rights and political status enjoyed by Jews in any other country.” This document is known as the Balfour Declaration and would become the basis for Zionists to organize widespread immigration to Palestine—known as Aliyah—to help achieve the goal of a Jewish state.
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